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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ALABAMA
NORTHEASTERN DIVISION

SCOTT STEWART, AS

PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE

OF THE ESTATE OF

DEBORAH W. STEWART
Plaintiff,

Case No.: 5:15-cv-00988-MHH

WELLS FARGO BANK,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

e e o e e e e ) ) e e ) )

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiff Scott Stewartas the representative for the estate of Deborah W.
Stewart,brings this action again$vells Fargo (Doc. 1). Mr. Stewartontends
that Wells Farggerminated Ms. Stewad employment in violation of the Family
Medical Leave Acbf 1993 29 U.S.C. 8§ 26Qlet seq (Doc. 1)! Wells Fargo
argues that terminated Ms. Stewadd employmenfor poor performance. (Doc.

29). The parties have presented evidence in support of their respective positions.

1 On September 1®015 after fiing this action Ms. Stewart died. (Doc. 34 pp. 15-16; Doc.

17). Pursuant td~ederal Rule of Civil Procedure 25(a)(i) a deceased plaintif action

survives the plaintiff then the decedest successor or represematmay file a motion for
substitution within 90 days after service of the statement noting death. On Ic2h2015

within the 90day window proscribed by Rule 2Bs. Stewarts personal representatvgcott

Stewart fled a motion tosubstitute himself asplaintiff. (Doc. 21). The Court granted the
motion. (Doc. 23).
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On this recordpursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure B&lls Fargoasks
the Court to enter judgment in favor of the compaioc. 29). Mr. Stewart asks
the Court tostrke various statements made in evidentiary matethels\Wells
Fargo submitted. (Doc. 41). Wells Fargo has also moved to strike Mr. Ssewart
declaration. (Doc. 44). For the reasdissussed belowthe CourtdeniesWells
Fargds motionfor summaryjudgmentand the Courtlenies bothMr. Stewarts
and Wells Fargs motionsto strikeas moot
. SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

“The court shall grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is
no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the moveamiitied to judgment as
a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a).o0 demonstrate that there is a genuine
dispute as to a material fact that precludes summary judgmeatty opposing a
motion for summary judgment must cite “to particular parts of nadgdan the
record, including depositions documents, electronically stored information
affidavits or declarationsstipulations (including those made for purposes of the
motion only) admissions, interrogatpanswersor other materials.” Fed. R. Civ.
P. 56(c)(1)(A).

When considering a summary judgment motion, the Court nest the
evidencein the recordin the light most favorable to the non-movirgarty.

SednNnhite v. Beltram Edge Tool Supglyc, 789 F.3d 11881191 (11th Cir. 2015).



Accordingly, the Court presents the facts in this opinion in the light most favorable
to Mr. Stewart. See White789 F.3d at 1191see also Feliciano v. City of Miami
Beach 707 F.3d 12441252 (11th Cir. 2013) (“[W]hen conflicts arise between the
facts evidenced by the partiegourts] must credit the nonmoving pdsty
version.”). “The court need consider only the cited materlalg it may consider
other materials in the record.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(3).
II.  FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On March 5, 2012Wells Fargo hired Ms. Stewart to serveadseasury
management sales consulta(oc. 323,pp. 1-2; Doc. 32p. 48. Several team
members interviewed Ms. Stewart asélectedher from a field of candidates
because shkaddecades of industrgxperienceincluding someprior experience
with Wells Fargo. (Doc. 32pp. 18-21 Doc. 33, p. 16-17). Ms. Stewals
supervisor,Jason KincaidSenior Vice President of Treasury Managemeras
“excited” and “impressed” todveMs. Stewart on hissam. (Doc. 32 pp. 23-24).
Mr. Kincaid was not the sole decisianaker in hiring determinationbuthe made
the ultimate decision in terminating employees on his te@oc. 32 p. 86; Doc.
33,pp. 19-21, 23).

As a treasury management sales consultsist Stewart developed and

maintaired business for an assigned customer base in north Alabama and



Tennessee. (Doc.30 Y 6; Doc. 362, | 6; Doc. 32p. 16). According to Wells
Fargq Ms. Stewart’s responsibilities included

partnemgwith Bank relationship managers and business bankers in a

consultative selling roleneeing annual sales goals and sales activity

targets by developing and executing a strategy to retain awd full
penetrateexisting client relationships, develop sales plans for her
assigned territory and key customer accountsyiding training on
treasurymanagement products and services to relationship managers
and business bankersrseded, anchanagg her assigned territory

with minimal oversight from management.

(Doc. 301, 16; Doc. 362, 1 6).

At the end ofherfirst year at Wells FargaVis. Stewartdid not meet her
sales goal (Doc. 304, p. 2-4;Doc. 365, p. 2; Doc. 1110). Mr. Kincaid testified
that “it’s not uncommon in the first yedas a treasury management sales
consultant] . . to [have to]build up your pipelingbuild up your relationships and
partnershipsand then the sales performance comes from tH&tdc. 32,p. 51).

In addition to falling short oher annuakales goal according to her annual
performance evaluatipMs. Stewartinderperformed inther areas of her woik
2012 (Doc. 304,p. 2-4;Doc. 32 pp. 64, 74). Mr. Kincaid expressed concern in
the review about Ms. Stewast achievementand set future performance
expectations. (Doc. 30,p. 3 Doc. 32 pp. 64-65. Mr. Kincaid recognized that
Ms. Stewarhad “faced market headwinds with a low starting pipelmgh bank
turnover and new BBG leadership.” (Doc:-8(. 3). Mr. Kincad also notedhat

Ms. Stewart “ha[d] worked very hard.” (Doc.-d0p. 2; Doc. 362,p. 7). Despite
4



Wells Fargos allegations of Ms. Stewastpoor 2012 performanc®Vells Fargo
ratedher overall evaluatioperformancéor 2012a “3.” (Doc. 304, p. 2-4).2 Not
only that Wells FargogaveMs. Stewartan end-of-the-yegserformance bonus.
(Doc. 32,pp. 52-55).

During the first quarter of 2013according to Wells FargaMs. Stewars
performance worsenedir. Kincaid testifiedne received‘more complaints from
bankers . . . [andilients’ about Ms. Stewats work. (Doc.32, pp. 64-66, 102—
03). In April 2013,Ms. Stewarts salesvere32 percent of her yedo-date goal
and 11 percent of her annual godDoc. 387, p. 2). Wells Fargo issued Ms.
Stewart an informal warning for her underperformar{@mc. 328). Mr. Kincaid
testifiedthat “it's not uncommon” for a treasury management sales consultant to
receive an informigerformance warning(Doc.32, p. 47). The informal review
set outan improvement plan to help Ms. Stevasthieve hebenchmarlstandards.
(Doc. 3067, pp. 2-3).

In the months that followedwWells Fargo ontends thatMs. Stewart’s
performancealid not improve (Doc. 30-2, 8. On June 262013,Wells Fargo
issued a formal performance warniagMs. Stewarivhich stated thafailure to

improve would result in “further corrective actjarp to and including termination

> The grading scalethat Wells Fargousedto assess Ms. Stewatperformances not in the
record. The Court infers that a “3" is toward the top of the scale and that MsaGtéwmet
expectations.”
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of employment.” (Doc. 3@, § Doc. 3010, pp. 2-4). Mr. Kincaid testifieche
“drove the process” to pladds. Stewart on formal warning air. JamesNalsh
Wells Fargobs Southeast Division Sales Manager to whom Mr. Kincaid reported
was simply made aware bfr. Kincaid's decision. (Doc. 3, p. 110). While Mr.
Kincaid conducted monthly oren-one meetings with his team membheafter

Ms. Stewartvas placed on a formal performance warnMg Kincaid moved to
weekly oneon-one meetings with her(Doc. 32,p. 71).

One week before Ms. Stewart received the formal warning, she visited her
doctorfor treatment of chronic neck pain. (Doc-43p. 4). Scott Stewart, Ms.
Stewart’s son, testified that Ms. Stewart had complained about her neck troubles
for years. (Doc. 34, p. 16). Her doctor diagnosed myelopathy, andtétgard
and her doctor agreed that she should have surgery. The doctor ordered a pre
surgical diagnostic CT and prescribed medicine for Ms. Stewart. (DaG.pt3).

When Mr. Kincaid discussed the formal warning with Ms. Stewart, she asked if
she waslaout to be terminated and explained that she was having health issues that
she needed to resolve. (Doc. 32, pp.71)

At some poinduring the performance warning process, probably in May or
June of 2103Mr. Kincaid askedMs. Stewart if she was looking for another job.
(Doc. 32, pp74-76). Mr. Kincaid testified he “actively talk[ed] with Miss Stewart

about trying to help her find a place she could succeed” because “[w]hen [he]
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see[s] someone not performing . . . [it] create[s] aflatoncernfor [him].” (Doc.
32,pp. 74 76). ). OnJuly 8, 2013, Wells Fargo gave Ms. Stewart a-yeadr
performance review. Wells Fargo told Ms. Stewart that she was “Off Track” in
every category of work. (Doc. 301, p. 2; Doc. 44, p. ).

In July 9, 2013,Wells Fargo receivedls. Stewars request formedical
leave for neck surgerytDoc. 3612,p. 2). OnJuly 102013,Wells Fargo granted
Ms. Stewarts request. (Doc. 302,p. 2. Wells Fargo’s Leave Management team
informed Mr. Kincaid that Ms. Stewast “leave of absence qualifies for job
protection underhite Family and Medical Leave Act.” (Doc.-3@, p. 9). Mr.
Kincaid testified that he was “not really familiar” with FMLA leave because he
was “onthe frontline.” (Doc32,p. 71). Ms. Stewart haaeck surgery and was
on leave for five weeks from July 12013 to August 262013. (Doc. 3, 1 20;
Doc. 3612, p. 2;Doc. 3613, p. 2.

On August 262013 Ms. Sewart returned to Wells FargandMr. Kincaid
allowed her towork with limited responsibilitiegor two weeks (Doc. 3614, p.

2). Mr. Kincaid testifiedthat he informed Ms. Stewathathe “assum[ed] [she]
probably [was] not going to be 200 percent coming batftet her surgery because
he understood shhad gone though a proceduréhad been on leayand . . .

needed some time to try to ramp bacK uf®oc. 32p. 81) Mr. Kincaid stated he



warned Ms. Stewathat shewvas still “close to being terminatédegardless of her
medical issuesr leave. (Doc32, pp. 81, 84-85).

WhenMs. Stewart resumed her regular dytds. Kincaid determined that
“there was really nothing Miss Stewart was doing to indicate there wathdor
success.” (Doc32, p. 83). On October,2013, justweeks after Ms. Stewart
returnedo work from medical leavéMr. Kincaid, in an email to human resources
and Mr. Walshstated: “l am writing to express my continued concern for Debby
Stewarts performance level in herrole as a TMSC. | believe we need to move to
termination as sooms possible for several reasdns(Doc. 401, p. 1). Mr.
Kincaid provideda number of performaedased explanationsnd added that
termination wagustified becauséDebby submits a request for medical leave.”
(Doc. 401, p. 1). Mr. Walsh replied“l fully support Jasors determination that
we move to termination.” (Doc. 40, p. 1).

On October 92013, fiveweeks after Ms. Stewastreturn towork from her
FMLA leave Mr. Kincaid terminatedher employment “forcontinued poor
performance (Doc. 30-1, § 7Doc. 3062, 1 8. Wells Fargo acknowledges that
other treasurynanagement sales consultants who reported to Mr. Walsh and Mr.
Kincaid had failed to meet their annual sales gbaishad not been terminated.

(Doc. 361,19 10; Doc. 32,9 10. Mr. Kincaid testified that “[tjoward the end of



[Ms. Stewarts] tenure in the role[he did not] believe she was trying . . . to
succeed.” (Doc32,p. 79).

Mr. Stewart,who works in financetestified thatVis. Stewartas a single
motherraising him had throughout her career “worked from the smallest bank to
the biggest bank” antlad “always [beeni top performer.” (Doc34, p.36).
Wells Fargo replaced Ms. Stewart with Nicole Burges®io Wells Fargo
acknowledges “was a junior persafid not have the level of experience Miss
Stewart had and“did not haveexperience ireasurymanagement sales.” (Doc.
32,pp. 73 99). After Wells Fargo terminated Ms. Stewdits. Stewart filed for
disability benefits andvever worked again. (Do@&4, p. 66-67). Mr. Stewart
observed the “stress that [losing her job at Wells Fargo]” in a “very unjust” manner
had “put on her.” (Doc34,p. 36). On September 18015,three months after
filing this action Ms. Stewartdied unexpectedly after suffieg a heart attack.
(Doc. 34, pp 15-16).

1. ANALYSIS

Mr. Stewart argues Wells Fargo violated the FMLA by terminating Ms.
Stewarts employnentbecause shequestednedicalleave from work. (Doc. 1).
The FMLA guarantee$o eligible employees the right to twelve weeks of leave
during any twelvanonth periodiue toa serious health conditiorfee29 U.S.C. §

2612(a)(1). To stata claim for FMLA retaliation Mr. Stewart “must show that
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[Wells Fargolintentionallydiscriminaed against [Ms. Stewart] for exercising an
FMLA right.” Martinv. Brevard Cnty. Pub. S¢b43 F.3d 12611267 (11th Cir.
2008) (emphasis in original)n this circuit a plaintiff may prove retaliation under
the FMLA through director circumstanél evidence of discrimination.See
Stricklandv. Water Works & Sewer Bd. of City of Birmingh&89 F.3d1199,
1207 (11h Cir. 2001)seealsoDockens v. DeKalb Cnty. Sch. Syl Fed Appx.
704,708 (11th Cir. 2011).

Direct evidenceds “evidence which if believed proves the existence of a
fact without inference or presumption.Merritt v. Dillard Paper Co, 120 F.3d
1181,1189 (11th Cir. 1997) (quotation omittedEvidence that merely suggests
retaliation,see Earley v. Champidnt’l Corp.,907 F.2d 107,/1081-82 (11th Cir.
1990),or thatcould “have more than one possible meayiisge Harris v. Shelby
Cnty. Bd. of Edug.99 F.3d 10781083 n. 2 (11tlCir. 1996),is circumstantial
evidence.See Merritt 120 F.3d at 1189.

At the summary judgmerdtage even if the factual predicate for the direct
evidence is disputedf “a jury could find that the decisionmaker had made the
statementthere [is] direct evidence . . . precluding summary judgmeBass v.
Bd. of Cnty. Comirs, Orange Cnty,.Fla.,256 F.3d 10951112 (11th Cir. 2001);
see alsoMerritt, 120 F.3dat 1189 (““Where the nommovant presents direct

evidence thatf believed by the jurywould be sufficient to win at triasummary
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judgment is not appropriate even where the movant presents conflicting
evidence?) (quoting Mize v. Jefferson City Bd. of Edu83 F.3d 739742 (11th
Cir. 1996))

In Merritt, the Eleventh Circuitliscusseda long line of cases” in which it
“found direct evidence whetactions or statements of an employer reflect[] a
discriminatory or retaliatory attitude correlating to the discrimination or retaliation
complained of by the employé&e.Id. at 1189-90 (alteration in original(quoting
Caban-heelerv. Elseg©04 F.2d 15491555 (11th Cir.199Q)(collecting cases).
“The quintessential example of direct evidence” in an age discriminatiorniscase
“a management memorandum sayifge Earey—he is too old.” Id. at 1190
(quoting Earley, 907 F.2d at 1081).Similarly, in a race retaliation casethe
guintessential example of direct evidensg“Fire Merritt—he gave the most
damning deposition testimony” in a Title VII lawsuitd.

In this caseMr. Stewart has established his primaidarase through direct
evidence.On October 22013, mn ane-mailto human resources and Mr. Walsh
Mr. Kincaid stated,“l believe we need to move to termination as soon as possible
for several reasons[.]"40-1,p. 1). heof thoseeasonswas: “Debby submis
request for medical leave.” (Doc. 40 pp. 1). Mr. Walsh repliedo Mr.

Kincaid's email, reporting,“l fully support Jasotrs determination that we move

to termination.” (Doc. 40p. 1). On October,92013,five weeks after Ms.
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Stewat returned from FMLA leave, Mr. Kincaid terminated Ms. Stetgart
employment. (Doc. 301, p.4).

Mr. Kincaids e4mail constitutesdirect evidence of retaliation Mr.
Kincaid' s statement that “I believe we need to move forward on termihation
becauseDebby submitjed] a request for medical ledvéoes more thamerely
suggest a discriminatory motive. It is a blatant remark

Wells Fargoargues that it is entitled to summary judgment because the
company termiated Ms. Stewafor poor performancé Wells Fargo’s argument
fails becaus#r. Stewart haproduceddirect evidencéo support his claim. As a
result,the burden of persuasion does not shift tellsVFargato “rebut this type of
showing of [retaliation] simply by articulating or producing evidence of legitimate
nondiscriminatory reasons” for terminating Ms. Stewade v. Russell County Bd.

of Educ, 684 F.2d 769, 774 (11th Cir. 1982)Instead,Mr. Stewarts claim

® Wells Fargo argues thatr. Stewartshould have to demonstrate tHut for” Ms. Stewarts
FMLA leave requestWells Fargo would not have terminated her. The Geumbt persuaded
Neither the Supreme Court nor the Eleve@ifcuit requires plaintiffs bringing FMLA retaliation
claims to prove causati under the “but for” standard. The Eleventh Circuit apples the
“motivating factor” causation standamd FMLA retaliation cases See Pereda v. Brookdale
Senior Living Commuties Inc, 666 F.3d 12691275 (11th Cir. 2012)Smith v. BellSouth
Telecomms. Inc,, 273 F.3d 13031313 (11th Cir.200). As the Eleventh Circuit recently
observed “in the FMLA context neither the Supreme Court nor [the Eleventh Circuit] has
required plaintiffs to prove that ilegal retaliaton was thHéutfor cause of the advee
employment action sufferedColeman v. Redmond Park HospLC, 589 Fed. Appx. 436138
(11th Cir. 2014).

* Because the Court findthat Mr. Stewart has established hisima facie case of FMLA
retaliation through direct evidencéhe Court does not have to ewl his circumstantial
evidenceto rule on Wells Farge summary judgment motionThe Court notes that the Eleventh

12



survives summary judgmermnd proceeds directly to a juryAt the summary
judgment stagein the face of direct evidence of retaliatican jury—not this
Court—must decide whether Wells Fargo terminated Ms. Stewart in violation of
the FMLA See Morav. Jackson Mé&nfound, Inc., 597 F.3d 12011204 (11th
Cir. 2010) (vacating sumary judgment and explaining that the plairtiff
evidence of discriminatory remarks “should be taken at face value” and to
conclude otherwise “would be to deny Plaintiff the benefit of resolving all
reasonable inferences in her favor as the nonm@any.”).
V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasonthe CourtDENIES Wells Fargts motion for
sumnary judgment. (Doc. 29)Because the Court did not rely on the disputed
material in reaching its decisipit DENIES both Mr. Stewarts and Wells

Fargds motionsto drike asMOQOT. (Docs 41, 44).

Circuit analyzes FMLA retaliation claimsusing the burdesshifting framework set outn
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greedll U.S. 792 (1973)See Hulbert v. St. Mary Health
Care Sys.Inc, 439 F.3d 12861297 (11th Cir. 2006). Under this teistthe absence of direct
evidence a plaintiff can establish a prima facie case of FMLA retaliation with ciramtiat
evidence by proving: (1) she engaged in statutorily protected activity; (2) she sufiezedesse
employment decision; and (3) the decision wasisallyrelated to theprotected activity. Id. If
the employee makes this showirthe burden then shifts to the defendant to articulate a
legitimate reason for the adverse action.” Findlijf the defendant does sehe plaintiff must
then show that the defendantroffered reason for the adverse action is pretextual.” The
Court recognizes that in addition to direct evidenbdr, Stewart has presented some
circumstantial evidence of retaliation in violation of the FMLA.

13



DONE andORDERED this March 14, 2017

Wadutowi S Flsnld

MADELINEHUGHESHAIKALA
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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